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NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS 

 

 This is a legal malpractice action arising from an underlying transactional 

matter. During the underlying transaction, Defendant, Stephen P. Ellis, Esquire 

(“Defendant”) negotiated, drafted, and prepared a pre-nuptial agreement for 

Plaintiff, Dean Sherman (“Plaintiff”). The pre-nuptial agreement Defendant 

prepared for Plaintiff did not include statutory disclosure waiver language in the 

Agreement, as per 13 Del. C. § 326. In the course of a divorce proceeding, many 

years following the underlying transaction, Plaintiff’s ex-wife, Margaret Sherman 

née Willoughby (“Ms. Willoughby”), successfully moved to set aside the pre-

nuptial agreement, although this Court later reversed the Family Court’s decision 

following an interlocutory appeal. 

 On June 12, 2018, Plaintiff filed a Complaint bringing claims for Legal 

Malpractice and Respondeat Superior against Defendant and a number of other 

defendants, who were later dismissed voluntarily by Plaintiff. At the close of 

discovery, Defendant moved for summary judgment. Following oral argument on 

November 22, 2019, the Hon. Jeffrey J. Clark (“Judge Clark”) issued an Order and 

Opinion, dated January 2, 2020, granting summary judgment in favor of 

Defendant. Judge Clark ruled that there was insufficient record evidence to support 

the inference that Ms. Willoughby would have executed the pre-nuptial agreement 

if it had contained the 13 Del. C. § 326 statutory disclosure waiver language. 
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Accordingly, Judge Clark ruled that there was insufficient evidence to find that 

Defendant’s failure to include this language was the proximate cause of Plaintiff’s 

damages. 

 On January 29, 2020, Plaintiff filed a Notice of Appeal of Judge Clark’s 

decision granting summary judgment to Defendant. On February 12, 2020, 

Defendant filed a Notice of Cross-Appeal of Judge Clark’s decision. This is 

Plaintiff’s Opening Brief. 
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS 

1. The Superior Court erred in finding that there was insufficient record 

evidence to allow a jury to conclude that Plaintiff’s ex-Wife would have 

executed the pre-nuptial agreement if it had included the statutory waiver of 

additional disclosure language. Plaintiff contends that the record contains 

overwhelming circumstantial evidence to support the inference that Ms. 

Willoughby would have executed the couple’s pre-nuptial agreement, even if 

the waiver language was included.  

 

2. The Superior Court erred in determining that Plaintiff had not produced 

record evidence to support the inference that Plaintiff’s ex-Wife would have 

executed the pre-nuptial agreement if it had included the statutory waiver of 

additional disclosure language, such that Plaintiff produced evidence to 

demonstrate that but for Defendant’s failure to include the waiver language 

in the agreement, Plaintiff would not have sustained damages. Plaintiff 

contends that the record contains overwhelming circumstantial evidence to 

support the inference that Ms. Willoughby would have executed the couple’s 

pre-nuptial agreement, even if the waiver language was included. This 

established a dispute of a genuine issue of material fact regarding the 

proximate cause of Plaintiff’s damages. Furthermore, the Court assumed the 

role of the jury in weighing the strength and credibility of this circumstantial 

evidence and failed to consider such evidence in a light most favorable to 

the Plaintiff, the non-moving party. Finally, as Ms. Willoughby was 

identified as a potential trial witness in Plaintiff’s Answers to Defendant’s 

Interrogatories, the fact that she was not deposed during discovery, does not 

preclude Plaintiff from subpoenaing her to testify at trial. 

 

3. The Superior Court erred by not adopting an increased risk of harm standard 

for transactional malpractice claims when transactional negligence left 

transaction vulnerable to legal challenge. Plaintiff contends that the fact that 

he was ultimately successful in the litigation arising over the enforceability 

of the pre-nuptial agreement, should not preclude liability with Defendant’s 

underlying deviation from the applicable standard of care – in preparing 

that agreement – resulted in far more costly and complex litigation. This 
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Court should adopt apply the same principal of increased risk of harm 

causation analysis – currently applied under Delaware law to medical 

malpractice – to attorney malpractice. Further, the Superior Court’s 

application of a strict “but for” causation analysis to the facts at hand, and 

to transactional malpractice claims in general, leaves an entire class of 

potentially aggrieved clients without recourse; namely, those who’s attorney 

prepared a contract which exposed them to an increased risk of harmful 

litigation regarding the contract’s enforceability.  
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STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

 Plaintiff’s claims are predicated upon Defendant’s preparation of a pre-

nuptial agreement (the “Agreement”) in January and February of 1997.
1
 Thomas E. 

Gay, Esquire (“Attorney Gay”) of Stumpf, Vickers & Sandy, P.A. represented Ms. 

Willoughby.
2
 The Agreement did not include statutory waiver of additional 

disclosure language, as per 13 Del. C. § 326.
3
 Nevertheless the Agreement was 

extremely one sided in favor of Plaintiff.
4
 In fact, the Agreement was so lopsided 

in its terms that Attorney Gay had Ms. Willoughby sign a memorandum 

documenting that she was executing the Agreement against the advice of her 

counsel.
5
 

 Ms. Willoughby filed for divorce on March 4, 2015, and later moved to set 

aside the Agreement on July 2, 2015.
6
 Ms. Willoughby was represented by Shawn 

Dougherty, Esquire (“Attorney Dougherty”) of Weik, Nitsche & Dougherty and 

David C. Gagne, Esquire (“Attorney Gagne”) and Achille C. Scache (“Attorney 

                                                           
1
 See A0003, A0005, A0007 – A0008 at ¶¶ 10, 16, 30-36. 

 
2
 A0004 at ¶ 14. 

 
3
 See, A0166 – A0167. 

 
4
 See, A0120 at 82:5-15. 

 
5
 See, A0120 at 83:4 – 85:18. 

 
6
 A0005 at ¶¶ 19, 22. 
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Scache”) of Giordano, DelCollo, Werb & Gagne, LLC represented Plaintiff.
7
 On 

July 2, 2015, Attorney Dougherty filed a Motion to Set Aside the Agreement (the 

“Motion”) arguing it was unconscionable and that it was involuntarily executed.
8
 

Ms. Willoughby’s motion to set aside the Agreement resulted in substantial 

litigation and discovery in the divorce action regarding its enforceability.
9
  

 On April 4, 2018, following extensive briefing and oral argument, The Hon. 

James G. McGiffin, Jr. (“Judge McGiffin”) issued an Order granting Ms. 

Willoughby’s Motion, concluding that the Agreement was unconscionable but that 

Ms. Willoughby had voluntarily executed the document, and rendered the 

Agreement unenforceable.
10

 Following an interlocutory appeal, this Court reversed 

and remanded Judge McGiffin on February 28, 2019, thus significantly narrowing 

the scope of the damages in this matter to Plaintiff’s expenses needlessly spent 

litigating the motion to set aside the Agreement.
11

 

 On June 12, 2018, Plaintiff filed suit against Defendant alleging that 

Defendant deviated from the applicable standard of care by failing to include 

statutory disclosure waiver language in the Agreement, as per 13 Del. C. § 326, 

                                                           
7
 A0005 at ¶¶ 20-21. 

 
8
 A0005 at ¶¶ 22-23. 

 
9
 A0166- A0167. 

 
10

 A0051, A0044. 
 
11

 A0292. 



7 
 

thereby rendering the Agreement defective and subject to a vigorous challenge by 

Ms. Willoughby.
12

 Plaintiff’s expert, Judy M. Jones, Esquire (“Attorney Jones”), 

and lay witnesses provided deposition testimony that: (i) Defendant’s failure to 

include the statutory waiver language in the Agreement was indeed a deviation 

from the appropriate standard of care;
13

 and (ii) this deviation was the actual and 

proximate cause of Plaintiff’s increased legal expenses associated with the 

ligitation of the enforceability of the Agreement.
14

 Attorney Jones and Attorney 

Gagne, both provided testimony, demonstrating that Plaintiff in fact would have 

received a much better result from the underlying transaction, had the Defendant 

included the statutory waiver language in the Agreement.  

                                                           
12

 A0007 at ¶ 33. 
 
13

 A0166. (“Inclusion of such a written waiver within the prenuptial agreement itself is the 

accepted standard of care and the norm in the practice of drafting, negotiating and execution of 

prenuptial agreements in Delaware.”) (emphasis added); A0125 at p. 102:23-103:8 (“Q. And 

again, is it your opinion within a reasonable degree of professional certainty based on your 

professional experience, that Mr. Ellis’ failure to include the waiver language … was a deviation 

from the applicable standard of care expected of a Delaware family lawyer? A. Yes, it was. It 

was a deviation.”) 
 
14

 A0106 at p. 27:20-28:20 (“Q. And it’s your belief that Mr. Ellis’ failure to include the waiver 

language you discuss on page six of your report caused Mr. Sherman to suffer damages. A. It is. 

Q. What were those damages? A. I would say the damages would be the increase in the 

attorney’s fees for the length of the litigation and that he had to undergo, including the appellate 

process for the Supreme Court review. I think the expert witnesses that Mr. Sherman had to hire 

to come up with  the values as to what certain property was at the time 20 years ago from when 

the agreement was being challenged. I think those are his damages. I think those could have and 

would have been greatly reduced, and not have been necessary if he had had a sentence waiving 

further disclosure.”); A0185 at p. 40:5-8 (“Q. So about $310,000.00 were fees that were 

specifically related to litigating the prenuptial agreement enforceability? A. Fees and costs, yes 

sir.”) 
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 Attorney Jones explained in great detail how the waiver language would 

have dramatically changed the manner in which the litigation over the 

enforceability of the Agreement occurred. Attorney Jones’ report – and testimony 

– explained that under Delaware law there are only two grounds or causes of 

action, under which a prenuptial agreement can be set aside: (1) “that an agreement 

was not entered into volutarily;” [and] (2) “that an agreement was unconscionable 

at the time it was executed.”
15

 Attorney Jones explained that there are four distinct 

elements all of which must be proven to successfully set aside a pre-nuptial 

agreement based on unconscionability – and critically, that one of those elements is 

that the challenged agreement did not include a written disclosure waiver.
16

  

 Attorney Jones testified that if the waiver language was included in the 

Agreement, Ms. Willoughby would not have been able to successfully challenge 

the Agreement on unconscionability grounds, even concurring that the waiver is in 

effect a “silver bullet” to such a claim.
17

 Attorney Jones also testified that Attorney 

Gay, Ms. Willoughby’s attorney in preparing the Agreement, had her execute a 

“CYA” memorandum wherein she acknowledged in writing that she executed the 
                                                           
15

 A0164-A0165 at p. 4-5. 
 
16

 A0165 at p. 5. 
 
17

 See, A0121 p. 88:19-89:3 (“Q. It is your experience based on knowledge, research, speaking 

with other attorneys, whatever it may be in your professional experience, that if that waiver 

language is included, it doesn’t matter if it’s about further disclosure, disclosure at all, or the 

disclosure that was provided; if the waiver language is included, you can’t prove that case? A. 

That’s my opinion. Yes.”); and A0123. 
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Agreement, against the advice of counsel, because it was so unfavorable to her.
18

 

Attorney Jones testified that this “CYA” memorandum was a complete defense to 

the other basis for challenging the Agreement, arguing it was not voluntarily 

signed, and that in fact Judge McGiffin, the trial judge, determined the same.
19

 

 In her testimony, Attorney Jones conceded that Ms. Willoughby would have 

moved to set aside the Agreement regardless, but if the waiver language had been 

included, Ms. Willoughby would only have been able to argue that she did not 

voluntarily enter into the Agreement.
20

 Attorney Jones further opined that once 

Attorney Gay’s “CYA” memrandum was discovered, that is all that would be 

needed to defend against an involuntary execution claim.
21

 Plaintiff’s domestic 

attorney, Attorney Gagne, similarly testified about how his approach to Ms. 

Willoughby’s challenge would have been dramatically different if the Agreement 

                                                           
18

 See, A0106 at p. 28:18-29:13. 
 
19

 See, A0106 at p. 28:18-29:13. 
 
20

 See, A0108-A0109 at p. 37:23-38:17 (“Q. So just to be clear, it’s your belief that even if that 

waiver language that you think should have been included was included, Ms. Dougherty [i.e. Ms. 

Willoughby’s attorney] would have challenged the validity of the prenuptial agreement? A. I 

think she probably would have. But I think had the waiver language been in there, she would 

have been limited to just the first of cause of action [i.e. voluntariness]”). 

 
21

 See, A0108 at p. 36:19-22 (“I think once Tom Gay’s CYA letter was discovered, that’s sort of 

the smoking gun. I think it would have ended there.”); A0122 at p. 91:10-18 (“Q. It is also your 

opinion, your expert opinion Ms. Jones, that once the discovery of … Tom Gay’s CYA letter 

occurred in the litigation of that hypothetical motion to set aside based only on voluntariness, 

that would have effectively killed that case? A. I think so. It would have for me.”). 
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had included the waiver language.
22

 Attorney Gagne testified that he would not 

have had an associate assist him, except where appropriate to lower Plaintiff’s 

costs and that he would not have hired any experts.
23

 Further, Attorney Gagne 

testified that in this but for scenario, the sufficiency of Plaintiff’s disclosures for 

the Agreement – the substantial issue in the litigation – would have been irrelevant 

and no litigation regarding it would have occurred.
24

  Finally, Attorney Gagne 

testified that instead of the $310,000 actually charged to Planitiff, had the waiver 

language been included in the Agreement and Ms. Willoughby still moved to set it 

aside on voluntariness it would have cost approximately $35,000 to $50,000 to 

litigate the case.
25

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
22

 See, A0181 at p. 22:21-23:7 (“Q. So if were presume that the [waiver] language had been 

included in the prenuptial agreement, in September of 2015 when you received Mr. Gay’s 

memorandum, would you have been completely comfortable in defending against both 

voluntariness and unconscionability? A. Yes. Q. So would you agree your litigation strategy 

would have been fairly straightforward in that event? A. Yes.”). 
 
23

 See, A0181 at p. 23:8-18.  

 
24

 See, A0181-A0183 at p. 24:10-29:17. 
 
25

 See, A0185-A0186 at p. 40:18-43:18. 
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ARGUMENT 

I. THE SUPERIOR COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS 

INSUFFICIENT RECORD EVIDENCE TO ALLOW A JURY TO 

CONCLUDE THAT PLAINTIFF’S EX-WIFE WOULD HAVE 

EXECUTED THE PRE-NUPTIAL AGREEMENT IF IT INCLUDED 

THE STATUTORY WAIVER OF ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE 

LANGUAGE  
 

A. Questions Presented 

 

1. Did the Superior Court err in finding that there was insufficient record 

evidence to allow a jury to conclude that Plaintiff’s ex-Wife would have 

executed the pre-nuptial agreement if it had included the statutory waiver 

of additional disclosure language?
26

 

B. Standard and Scope of Review 

 In Delaware, “[a] trial court's decision on a motion for summary judgment is 

subject to a de novo standard of review on appeal.”
27

 A party is not entitled to 

summary judgment unless “there are no genuine issues of material fact,” such that 

the “moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”
28

  When considering 

a motion for summary judgment, “[t]he Court must view all factual inferences in 

                                                           
26

 The argument that there was sufficient circumstantial evidence in the record to allow a jury to 

conclude the Ms. Willoughby would have executed the Agreement even if it had included the 

statutory waiver of additional disclosures language was raised and preserved at oral argument 

regarding Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment. See, A0609 at p. 11:1-4. 
 
27

 AeroGlobal Capital Mgmt., LLC v. Cirrus Indus., 871 A.2d 428, 433 (Del. 2005).  
 
28

 Caraballo v. Delaware Dep’t of Corr., 2001 Del. Super. LEXIS, at *2 (Del. Super. March 22, 

2001). 
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the light most favorable to the non-moving party.”
29

 Summary judgment should be 

denied, “[i]f there is a reasonable indication that a material fact is in dispute or if it 

is desirable to inquire more thoroughly into the facts.”
30

 Moreover, “[i]n 

evalutating the record on a motion for summary judgment, a trial judge is not 

permitted to weigh the evidence or resolve conflicts presented by pretrial 

discovery.”
31

 Further, “[w]here the ultimate fact to be established concerns intent 

or other subjective reaction, summary judgment is ordinarily inappropriate.”
32

 

Finally, “[i]f the matter depends to any material extent upon a determination of 

credibility, summary judgment is inappropriate.”
33

 

C. Merits 

i. The Superior Court Overlooked Substantial Circumstantial Evidence 

Supporting the Inference that Plaintiff’s Ex-Wife Would Have Executed 

the Pre-Nuptial Agreement, Had it Contained the Statutory Waiver of 

Additional Disclosure Language 

 

 In deciding to grant Defendant’s request for summary judgment, Judge Clark 

opined “[o]n balance, the record contains no evidence—direct or circumstantial—

that permits a reasonable inference that Mr. Sherman’s ex-wife would have more 

                                                           
29

 Id.  

 
30

 Id. 
 
31

 Telxon Corp. v. Meyerson, 802 A.2d 257, 262 (Del. 2002). 
 
32

 AeroGlobal Capital Mgmt., LLC, 871 A.2d at 446. 
 
33

 Cerberus Int'l, Ltd. v. Apollo Mgmt., L.P., 794 A.2d 1141, 1150 (Del. 2002) (emphasis added). 
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likely than not agreed to”
34

 the inclusion of the statutory disclosure waiver 

language in the Agreement. Plaintiff respectfully submits that Judge Clark’s 

determination was in error. While it is true that virtually nothing – particularly a 

negative – can be proven with absolute certainty, the standard of proof in a civil 

matter is proponderance of evidence, not absolute certainty.  

 In fact there was significant circumstantial evidence in the record 

demonstrating that it is virtually all but certain that Ms. Willoughby would have 

executed that Agreement even if it included the waiver.  For instance, Attorney 

Jones testified that the Agreement – even without the waiver language – was 

incredibly one sided in Plaintiff’s favor.
35

 Ms. Willoughby waived all of her 

marital rights in the Agreement.
36

 Ms. Willoughby also waived her right to claim 

an elective share of Plaintiff’s estate and waived her right to allimony.
37

 Ms. 

Willoughby nonetheless executed the Agreement. 

 Recognizing the lopsided nature of Defendant’s first draft of the Agreement, 

Attorney Gay offered revisions, which were intended to give more rights to Ms. 

                                                           
34

 A0693. 
 
35

 A0120 at p. 82:5-15. 

 
36

 A0120 at p. 82:12-14. 

 
37

 A0120 at p. 83:20-84:11. 
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Willoughby.
38

 For instance, Attorney Gay proposed language which would have 

allowed Ms. Willoughby to receive allimony in the event of a divorce.
39

 Attorney 

Gay also proposed a revision that would allow Ms. Willoughby to claim an 

elective share of Plaintiff’s estate in the event of his death.
40

 Attorney Gay also 

proposed that Plaintiff set up a retirement account for the exclusive benefit of Ms. 

Willoughby.
41

 Plaintiff rejected each and every revision proposed by Attorney 

Gay, which would have made the Agreement more beneficial to Ms. Willoughby, 

and she nonetheless executed the Agreement.
42

 The Agreement was so unfair to 

Ms. Willoughby that Attorney Gay had her execute a memorandum wherein she 

acknowledged that she executed the Agreement after being advised by her attorney 

in writing not to do so.
43

 

 Plaintiff submits that – considered together – this substantial circumstantial 

evidence supports a reasonable inference that Ms. Willoughby would have 

executed the Agreement if it included one additional clause containing waiver 

language. Plaintiff respectfully contends that Judge Clark’s finding that there was 

                                                           
38

 See, A0120 at p. 82:18-85:18. 
 
39

 See, A0120 at p. 83:4-83:14. 
 
40

 See, A0120 at p. 83:20-84:4. 
 
41

 See, A0120 at p. 84:5-7 

 
42

 See, A0120 at p. 82:18-84:11. 
 
43

  See, A0119-A0121 at p. 81:24-86:1. 
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no evidence in the record to support this inference is patently wrong. Moreover, 

what Ms. Willoughby would have done if the Agreement contained the statutory 

disclosure language, is a question best answered by her testimony at trial. 
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II. THE SUPERIOR COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT 

PLAINTIFF DID NOT DEMONSTRATE A GENUINE ISSUE OF 

MATERIAL FACT REGARDING PROXIMATE CAUSE OF DAMAGES 

 

A. Questions Presented 

 

1. Did the Superior Court err in granting summary judgment, as a material 

factual dispute existed, regarding the question of whether Plaintiff’s ex-

Wife would have executed the pre-nuptial agreement, and as such a 

genuine issue of material fact existed regarding the issue of whether 

Defendant’s failure to include the language in the agreement caused 

Plaintiff to incur increased litigation fees?
44

 

2. Did the Superior Court err in granting summary judgment, as the 

question of whether or not Plaintiff’s ex-Wife would have executed the 

pre-nuptial agreement requires the fact finder to determine the credibility 

of competing inferences?
45

  

                                                           
44

 The argument that there was sufficient circumstantial evidence in the record to allow a jury to 

conclude the Ms. Willoughby would have executed the Agreement even if it had included the 

statutory waiver of additional disclosures language was raised and preserved at oral argument 

regarding Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment. See, A0609 at p. 11:1-4. Plaintiff raised 

the causal connection between the failure to include the waiver in the Agreement and his 

increased attorneys’ fees and costs in his Answering Brief and at oral argument. See, A0375-

A0377. 
 
45

 Plaintiff preserved the argument that it is the province of the jury to determine whether Ms. 

Willoughby would have executed the Agreement if it contained the additional disclosure waiver 

in his Answering Brief and at oral argument. See, A0375 at n. 35; A0643 at p. 45:9-13. 
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3. Did the Superior Court err in granting summary judgment, as Plaintiff 

can still call his ex-Wife to testify at trial?
46

 

B. Standard and Scope of Review 

 In Delaware, “[a] trial court's decision on a motion for summary judgment is 

subject to a de novo standard of review on appeal.”
47

 A party is not entitled to 

summary judgment unless “there are no genuine issues of material fact,” such that 

the “moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”
48

  When considering 

a motion for summary judgment, “[t]he Court must view all factual inferences in 

the light most favorable to the non-moving party.”
49

 Summary judgment should be 

denied, “[i]f there is a reasonable indication that a material fact is in dispute or if it 

is desirable to inquire more thoroughly into the facts.”
50

 Moreover, “[i]n 

evalutating the record on a motion for summary judgment, a trial judge is not 

                                                           
46

 Plaintiff’s counsel concedes that he did not specifically raise the issue of Ms. Willoughby 

testifying at trial, during a discussion at oral argument regarding the fact that Ms. Willoughby 

was not deposed. However, Plaintiff respectfully contends that the interests of justice would be 

best served in allowing Plaintiff to raise this point herein. First, Plaintiff did identify Ms. 

Willoughby as a potential trial witness in supplemental discovery responses. See, A0094-A0095. 

Furthermore there was a brief discussion at oral argument regarding Ms. Willoughby’s potential 

testimony. See, A0607-A0608 at pp. 9:14-10:10. Plaintiff’s counsel concedes he could have been 

more direct and respectfully requests the Court excuse this failing. 
 
47

 AeroGlobal Capital Mgmt., 871 A.2d at 433. 
 
48

 Caraballo, 2001 Del. Super. LEXIS, at *2. 

 
49

 Id.  

 
50

 Id. 
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permitted to weigh the evidence or resolve conflicts presented by pretrial 

discovery.”
51

 Further, “[w]here the ultimate fact to be established concerns intent 

or other subjective reaction, summary judgment is ordinarily inappropriate.”
52

 

Finally, “[i]f the matter depends to any material extent upon a determination of 

credibility, summary judgment is inappropriate.”
53

 

 To prove a claim of legal malpractice in Delaware, “the plaintiff must 

establish the following elements: a) the employment of the attorney; b) the 

attorney’s neglect of a professional obligation; and c) resulting loss.”
54

 As in most 

jurisdictions, “it is well-established in Delaware that expert testimony is necessary 

to support a claim of legal malpractice”
55

  Accordingly, “in order to sustain a claim 

of professional negligence against a Delaware attorney, plaintiff must establish the 

applicable standard of care through the presentation of expert testimony, a breach 

of that standard of care, and a causal link between the breach and the injury.”
56

 

 

 

                                                           
51

 Telxon Corp., 802 A.2d at 262. 
 
52

 AeroGlobal Capital Mgmt., LLC, 871 A.2d at 446. 
 
53

 Cerberus Int'l, Ltd., 794 A.2d at1150. 
 
54

 Flowers v. Ramunno, 27 A.3d 551 (Table), 2011 Del. LEXIS 434, at *4 (Del. Aug. 16, 2011). 

 
55

 Dickerson v. Murray, 2016 Del. Super. LEXIS 166, at *5 (Del. Super. Mar. 24, 2016).  

 
56

 Middlebrook v. Ayres, 2004 Del. Super. LEXIS 179, at *19 (Del. Super. June 9, 2004).  
 



19 
 

C. Merits 

i. Plaintiff Produced Substantial Circumstantial Evidence Supporting the 

Inference that Plaintiff’s Ex-Wife Would Have Executed the Pre-Nuptial 

Agreement, Had it Contained the Statutory Waiver of Additional 

Disclosure Language, Thus Establishing But For Causation of Damages, 

and Weighing that Evidence Required Making a Credibility 

Determination 

 

 As detailed in the previous section of Plaintiff’s Opening Brief, the record 

below contained significant circumstantial evidence supporting the inference that 

Ms. Willoughby would have executed the Agreement, even if it included the 

statutory disclosure waiver language.
57

 Plaintiff respectfully contends that this 

evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to him, presented a material issue of 

fact, which should have precluded summary judgment. As the Court stated in 

Robinson v. Foulkstone Med. Pavilion Condo. Ass’n “circumstantial evidence may 

lead to more than one possible inference” and “[a]fter considering all possible 

inferences, the factfinder must consider whether there is only one reasonable 

inference under the circumstances.”
58

 

                                                           
57

 See, supra, notes 35 – 43 and accompanying text. 
 
58

 See, e.g., Robinson v. Foulkstone Med. Pavilion Condo. Ass’n, 2018 Del. Super. LEXIS 398, 

*9 (Del. Super. Aug. 14, 2018) (denying defendant property owner’s motion for summary 

judgment and noting plaintiff’s expert’s testimmony “provided circumstantial evidence sufficient 

to create a genuine issue of material fact regarding a dangerous condition.”) (emphasis in 

original); Keller v. Del-Homes, Inc, 1999 Del. Super. LEXIS 430, at *2-5 (Del. Super. March 12, 

1999) (the Court denied defendants’ motions for summary judgment after determining there was 

circumstantial evidence that defendants’ had cut down trees on plaintiff’s property and caused 

trash and debris to accumulate thereon, and noting, “the Court is not inclided to attempt to weigh 

and assess the respective probative values of the anticipated evidence.”); Contra, Brown v. 

Gartside, 2004 Del. Super. LEXIS 83, at *1, 7-8 (Del. Super. March 5, 2004) (the Court properly 
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 The underlying facts are substantially similar to those considered by the 

Court in Dickerson, which arose from faulty transactional legal advice.  In that 

case, the plaintiff retained the defendants to prepare a promissory note for a loan 

provided to her grandson for the purchase of a property.
59

  The defendants prepared 

the note but failed to advise plaintiff to mortgage her grandson’s property – leaving 

the debt unsecured.
60

 After making one payment the grandson defaulted.
61

  

 The defendants in Dickerson moved for summary judgment, arguing in part, 

that their negligence was not the proximate cause of the plaintiff’s damages.
62

 The 

Court denied the defendants’ request and noted, “[w]hether [p]laintiff would have 

walked away from the deal had she been fully advised is a jury question.”
63

 The 

Court also noted that defendants’ request for summary judgment would require a 

determination regarding the credibility of whether or not the plaintiff would have 

walked away under the circumstances, and that “a judge does not make credibility 

                                                                                                                                                                                           

granted summary judgment to defendant property owner, where plaintiff, who passed away 

before providing any kind of written or oral statement regarding circumstance sof alleged fall 

offered no evidence, documentation or testimonial, to support inference that defendant was 

negligent or that dangerous condition existed).  
 
59

 Dickerson v. Murray, 2016 Del. Super. LEXIS 166, at *1-2 (Del. Super. Mar. 24, 2016). 

 
60

 Id. at *1-4. 
 
61

 Id. at *1-2. 
 
62

 Id. at *9. 
 
63

 Dickerson, 2016 Del. Super. LEXIS 166, at *12. 
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determinations at this stage of the litigation.”
64

 Similarly, Plaintiff contends that 

weighing the circumstantial evidence that Ms. Willoughby would have executed 

the Agreement, if it contained the waiver language, against the inference that she 

would not have – requires a determination of credibility – thus precluding 

summary judgment.  

 Again, the best means of establishing Ms. Willoughby’s reaction to the 

hypothetical inclusion of statutory waiver language in the Agreement is through 

her testimony at trial. Plaintiff contends that the record includes enough 

circumstantial evidence that created an inference that she would have – such that it 

was “desirable to inquire more thoroughly into the facts” such that summary 

judgment was inappropriate.
65

 

 Testimony elicited from Attorney Jones indicates that had the Agreement 

contained the statutory disclosure waiver, the litigation over the Agreement’s 

enforceability would have been dramatically different.
66

 For instance, Attorney 

Jones, having extensively reviewed the file of the litigation of the Agreement’s 

enforceability, testified that waiver language would have eliminated the need for 

Plaintiff to retain three experts and that Plaintiff’s attorneys had to devote 

substantial time and resources litigating unconscionability because of the absence 

                                                           
64

 Id.  
 
65

 AeroGlobal Capital Mgmt., LLC, 871 A.2d at 444. 
 
66

 See, supra notes 14. 
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of the waiver in the Agreement.
67

 Jones provided competent and compelling 

testimony that but for Ellis’ failure to include the waiver in the Agreement, the 

litigation regarding its enforceability would have been much less involved and 

expensive.  

 Attorney Gagne similarly testified during his deposition. Attorney Gagne 

testified that the majority of the litigation was devoted to discovery and experts 

related to real estate valuation, as the Agreement misidentified Plaintiff’s 

ownership interest in a 200 acre parcel of real estate.
68

 Attorney Gagne testified 

that if the waiver language was included in the Agreement, the error in the 

disclosure of Plaintiff’s ownership of that parcel would have been immaterial.
69

 

Finally, both Attorney Gagne and Attorney Jones testified that Plaintiff’s legal 

expenses would have been significantly lowered had Defendant included the 

waiver language in the Agreement.
70

 

 Accordingly, Plaintiff has provided evidence to demonstrate that but for 

Defendant’s failure to include the waiver language, he would not have incurred 

damages in the nature of significantly heightened legal fees.   

 

                                                           
67

 See, A0106 at p. 28:18-29:23. 
 
68

 See, A0181 – A0183 at p. 24:10-29:17. 
 
69

 See, A0183 at p. 29:12-17. 
 
70

 See, supra note 14. 
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ii. Plaintiff May Still Call His Ex-Wife to Testify at Trial 

 As argued above, Plaintiff submits that the record contained substantial 

circumstantial evidence to support the inference that Ms. Willoughby would have 

executed the Agreement, even if it included waiver language. Plaintiff contends 

that he has presented sufficient evidence to warrant a trial in this matter, wherein 

the fact finder will be permitted to weigh competing inferences regarding this 

issue, such that summary judgment was innappropriate.
71

 

 Plaintiff notes the evidence the jury will consider will include the direct 

testimony of Ms. Willoughby. On July 11, 2019, Plaintiff served Supplemental 

Answers and Objections to Defendants’ Interrogatories.
72

 Interrogatory No. 31 

asked Plaintiff to:  

State the name, address and occupation of each person from whom 

You intend to elicit testimony for use in court, including without 

limitation, those You intend to call as a witness at trial in any 

capacity, other than solely as an expert witness, and as to each such 

person identified, summarize the involvement or role of the witness in 

the events or condition at issue and the substance of the testimony that 

You will elicit from the witness.
73

 

 

                                                           
71

 Contra, Stayton v. Clariant Corp., 2014 Del. LEXIS 1, at *5 (Del. Jan. 2, 2014) (noting, 

“[t]here is no issue for a trial unless there is sufficient evidence favoring the nonmoving party for 

a jury to return a verdict for that party.”) (quoting, Health Solutions Network v. Grigorov, 2011 

Del. LEXIS 89, at *5 (Del. Feb. 9, 2011)).  
 
72

 See, A0090 – A0097. 
 
73

 A0094. 
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In response, Plaintiff answerd that he “may call the following witnesses to testify” 

and then identied Ms. Willougby and noted, “[Ms. Willougby] has knowledge 

regarding the preparaton and execution of the subject Anti-Nuptial Agreement.”
74

 

 By identifying Ms. Willoughby as a witness in response to Defendant’s 

discovery, Plaintiff preserved his right to call her as a witness at trial. Should the 

Court reverse and remand Judge Clark’s Order granting summary judgment to the 

Defendant, Plaintiff intends to issue a subpoena to Ms. Willoughby, pursuant to 

Super. Ct. Civ. R. 45, compelling her appearance at trial for the purpose of 

providing testimony. Plaintiff respectfully contends that Ms. Willoughby’s direct 

testimony can and should be heard by the jury, so that it can weigh her testimony 

consider it, along with the substantial circumstantial evidence already in the record.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
74

 A0095. 
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III.THE SUPERIOR COURT ERRED IN NOT ADOPTING AN 

INCREASED RISK OF HARM STANDARD FOR CERTAIN 

TRANSACTIONAL MALPRACTICE CLAIMS 

 

A. Questions Presented 

 

1. Did the Superior Court err in not adopting an increased risk of harm 

standared for transcational legal malpractice claims, wherein the alleged 

negligence left the transcation vulnerable to a vigorous legal challenge, 

which resulted in damages, in the form of increased legal expenses?
75

  

B. Standard and Scope of Review 

 In Delaware, “[a] trial court's decision on a motion for summary judgment is 

subject to a de novo standard of review on appeal.”
76

 A party is not entitled to 

summary judgment unless “there are no genuine issues of material fact,” such that 

the “moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”
77

  When considering 

a motion for summary judgment, “[t]he Court must view all factual inferences in 

the light most favorable to the non-moving party.”
78

 Summary judgment should be 

denied, “[i]f there is a reasonable indication that a material fact is in dispute or if it 

                                                           
75

 Plaintiff argued for the application of the increased risk of harm standard at oral argument. 

See, A0639 at p.41:7-21. 
 
76

 AeroGlobal Capital Mgmt., 871 A.2d at 433. 
 
77

 Caraballo, 2001 Del. Super. LEXIS, at *2. 

 
78

 Id.  
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is desirable to inquire more thoroughly into the facts.”
79

 Moreover, “[i]n 

evalutating the record on a motion for summary judgment, a trial judge is not 

permitted to weigh the evidence or resolve conflicts presented by pretrial 

discovery.”
80

 Further, “[w]here the ultimate fact to be established concerns intent 

or other subjective reaction, summary judgment is ordinarily inappropriate.”
81

 

Finally, “[i]f the matter depends to any material extent upon a determination of 

credibility, summary judgment is inappropriate.”
82

 

C. Merits 

i. The Superior Court Erred By Not Adopting The Increased Risk of Harm 

Standard For Transactional Malpractice Claims When Transactional 

Negligence Left Transaction Vulnerable To Legal Challenge 

 

 In determining to grant Defendant’s request for summary judgment, Judge 

Clark utilized traditional strict but for causation analysis.
83

 Judge Clark also 

reasoned that because Plaintiff did not produce sufficient evidence to demonstrate 

that Ms. Willoughby would have signed the Agreement if it contained a waiver 

provision, Plaintiff could not establish causation of his alleged damages.
84

 As 

                                                           
79

 Id. 
 
80

 Telxon Corp., 802 A.2d at 262. 
 
81

 AeroGlobal Capital Mgmt., LLC, 871 A.2d at 446. 
 
82

 Cerberus Int'l, Ltd., 794 A.2d at1150. 
 
83

 See, A0690. 
 
84

 See, id. 
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detailed in the forgoing sections of Plaintiff’s Opening Brief, Plaintiff respectfully  

contends he did provide evidence sufficient to establish this fact.  

 Plaintiff argued that Defendant’s failure to include the statutory waiver 

provision in the Agreement left the Agreement vulnerable to a vigorous legal 

challenge by Ms. Willoughby and – as supported by the testimony of Attorney 

Jones and Attorney Gagne – this resulted in a substantial escalation of the litigation 

regarding the Agreement’s enforcability, thus dramatically increasing Plaintiff’s 

legal expenses. In effect, Plaintiff argued that the manner in which Defendant 

prepared the Agreement created an increased risk of future litigation – future 

litigation which in fact came to pass. Plaintiff respectfully contends that the unique 

circumstances presented by the facts of this case warrant the adoption of a lower 

increased risk of harm standard of analysis. 

 Other jurisdictions have adopted relaxed standards for causation analysis in 

the context of particular legal malpractice claims, recognizing the inherent 

difficulty that arises in analyzing the types of unique factual scenarios that can 

accompany malpractice claims. In Lieberman v. Employers Ins. Of Wausau, the 

Supreme Court of the State of New Jersey considered this issue in a legal 

malpractice case brought by the underlying defendant in a medical malpractice 
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case.
85

 In that case the plaintiff (underlying defendant) claimed his insurance 

appointed attorney had committed malpractice by settling the underlying claim 

without his express consent.
86

 The Court noted that, “[s]everal factors suggest that 

plaintiff should not be restricted to the more or less conventional mode of trying a 

‘suit within a suit’ to establish entitlement to damages.”
87

 The Court therefore 

concluded that: 

[I]t should be within the discretion of the trial judge as to the manner 

in which the plaintiff may proceed to prove his claim for damages and 

that the appropriate procedure should, if not otherwise agreed upon 

between the parties, be settled through pretrial proceedings. We need 

not here delineate in final detail what alternatives must be considered 

except to observe that they include the "suit within a suit" approach or 

any reasonable modification thereof. Another option, which may be 

apposite in this case in light of the duality of defendants, the factor of 

role reversal, and the passage of time, is to proceed through the use 

of expert testimony as to what as a matter of reasonable probability 

would have transpired at the original trial.
88

 

 

 Relying on the Supreme Court’s decision in Lieberman, Judge Kestin of the 

Superior Court of New Jersey, Appellate Division, in a dissenting opinion argued 

                                                           
85

 Lieberman v. Employers Ins. Of Wausau, 419 A.2d 417, 419 (N.J. 1980). 
 
86

 Id. at 423. 
 
87

 Id. at 426-27. (these factors included inter alia the passage of time and the fact that the 

plaintiff – being the underlying defendant – could “skew the proofs” and thus “the jury in the 

current case would not obtain an accurate evidential reflection of semblance of the original 

action.”). 
88

 Id. at 427. (emphasis added). Plaintiff has argued throughout this matter that Attorney Jones’ 

expert opinion fairly depicts how the litigation over the Agreement’s enforceability would have 

differed if the Agreement contained the statutory waiver language. See, A0640 – A0642 at pp. 

42:7 – 44:5.  See also, A0166 – A0167; supra notes 6 – 14 and accompanying text.  
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for the application of an increased risk of harm standard for legal malpractice 

actions – as the Courts of New Jersey utilize for medical malpractice claims.
89

 In 

Jerista, the Superior Court of New Jersey, Appellate Division, affirmed the trial 

court’s granting of summary judgment to a defendant-attorney who was sued by 

his former client, who alleged his negligence caused him to lose an otherwise 

winnable premises liability action, when that suit was dismissed following 

discovery violations committed by the defendant-attorney.
90

 In arguing for a 

lowered standard in his dissent, Judge Kestin opined: 

In terms of damages, it should be no less difficult to calculate in a 

legal malpractice action than in a medical malpractice action, with 

appropriate regard for the uncertainties involved, the value of the loss 

claimants experienced by reason of the professional defendant's 

errors, omissions, and intentional disregard of professional standards
91

 

 

 In another nod to the opinion in Lieberman, the Superior Court of New 

Jersey, Appellate Division, in Gautam v. De Luca, recognized that “the ‘suit within 

a suit’ rule may suffer from an unduy rigidity.”
92

 The Court opined that the 

requirement of proving the underlying action is unrealistic, noting “[t]he simple 

                                                           
89

 See, Jerista v. Murray, 842 A.2d 840, (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 2004) (reversed and 

remanded on other grounds in Jerista v. Murray, 883 A.2d 350 (N.J. 2005)).  
 
90

 Id. at 842-43. 
 
91

 Id. at 849. 
 
92

 Gautam v. De Luca, 521 A.2d 1343, 1348 (N N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 1987). 
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fact is that many, if not most, legal claims are not tried to a conclusion, but rather 

are amicably adjusted.”
93

 

 Some Courts have deviated from the traditional “case within a case” analysis 

in malpratice claims. For instance, in Price Waicukauski & Riley, LLC v. Murray, 

the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Indiana – applying Indiana 

substantive law – determined that a plaintiff’s claims that the defedants’ negligence 

resulted in increased legal expenses, could survive summary judgment.
94

 The Court 

so ruled even if the plaintiff could not prove he would have won the underlying 

lawsuit.
95

 

 In Nicolet Instrument Corp. v. Lindquist & Vennum, the Seventh Circuit 

Court of Appeals – applying Wisconsin law – reversed and remanded the trial 

court’s granting of summary judgment to the defendants-attorneys in a legal 

malpractice claim.
96

 In that case the Court considered a claim made by the seller of 

a business subsidiary to a new company, which included a building the seller had 

previously leased for the subsidiary.
97

 Following the sale to the buyer-company, 

the seller remained liable for the lease of the building and subsequently paid 

                                                           
93

 Id. 
 
94

 Price Waicukauski & Riley, LLC v. Murray, 47 F. Supp. 3d 810, 823, 828-29 (S.D. Ind. 2014). 
 
95

 Id. 
 
96

 Nicolet Instrument Corp. v. Lindquist & Vennum, 34 F.3d 453, 457 (7th Cir. 1994).  
 
97

 Id. at 454. 
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millions in rent, it had intended to avoid.
98

 The plaintiff-seller sued their attorneys 

for failing to ensure that the buying company assumed responsibility for the 

lease.
99

 The trial court granted summary judgment finding it was “pure conjecture” 

that the buying company would have agreed to these terms.
100

 

 The Seventh Circuit noted that “[p]roof of causation is often difficult in legal 

malpractice cases” and that this is even more difficult in the context of 

transactional malpractice arising from a negotiated instrument.
101

 The Court 

adopted a lower standard then strict but for causation and held that summary 

judgment was improper because the plaintiff’s burden was as follows: 

But to withstand summary judgment Nicolet was not required to 

prove that but for the law firm's negligence it would have avoided the 

$ 2.6 million rental expense that it incurred as a result of its remaining 

on the Zeta lease with no promise of indemnity by AM. All it had to 

show was that a rational trier of fact, confronted with the evidence 

produced in the summary judgment phase of the litigation, could 

conclude that, yes, Nicolet had suffered some harm as a consequence 

of the law firm's negligence and could quantify that harm to a 

reasonable, which is not to say a high, degree of precision. This not 

very demanding standard was satisfied, when, as is required given the 

posture of the case the evidence is construed as favorably to Nicolet 

as the record will permit.
102

 

                                                           
98

 Id. 
 
99

 Id.  
 
100

 Nicolet Instrument Corp., 34 F.3d at 455. 
 
101

 Id.  
 
102

 Id. (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added). See also, Keywell Corp. v. Piper & 

Marbury, L.L.P., 1999 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1445, at *17-20, 26-28 (W.D.N.Y. Feb. 11, 1999) (The 

Court in Keywell found it innappropriate to assent to the defendants-attorneys’ argument that the 
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 In 1995, this Court, upon a request for the certification of questions of law 

by the U.S. District Court for the District of Delaware, adopted the increased risk 

of harm standard in medical malpractice claims.
103

 Writing for the Court, the 

Honorable E. Norman Veasey (“Chief Justice Veasey”) noted “[a]s its name 

implies, the increased risk doctrine provides that a person may recover damages if 

the person’s risk of suffering a negative medical condition is increased because of 

medical malpractice.”
104

 Analyzing a ruling by the Connecticut Supreme Court on 

the subject, Chief Justice Veasey noted “the plaintiff ‘should not be burdened with 

proving that the occurrence of a future event is more likely than not, when it is a 

present risk, rather than a future event for which she claims damages.’"
105

 Chief 

Justice Veasey further noted: 

The Court held that in a tort action, a plaintiff who has established a 

breach of duty that was a substantial factor in causing a present injury 

which has resulted in an increased risk of future harm is entitled to 

compensation to the extent that the future harm is likely to occur.
106

 

 

                                                                                                                                                                                           

plaintiff company could not demonstrate conclusively at the summary judgment phase that the 

company would have secured a better deal had it been given needed evironmental information, 

not provided as a result of defendants’ negligence). 
 
103

 See, United States v. Anderson, 669 A.2d 73, 74, 79 (Del. 1995).  
 
104

 Id. at 75 (quoting United States v. Cumberbatch, 647 A.2d 1098, 1100 n.3 (Del. Super. 1994). 
 
105

 Id. at 77 (quoting Petriello v. Kalman, 546 A.2d 474, 482-83 (Conn. 1990)). 
 
106

 Id. (internal quotation marks omitted).  
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 Chief Justice Veasey determined that, [t]his approach addresses concerns 

about speculative claims for future harm. The requirement of a preceding physical 

injury prohibits plaintiffs from claiming that exposure to toxic substances, for 

instance, has created an increased risk of harm not yet manifested in a physical 

disease.”
107

 With these principals in mind, Chief Justice Veasey held that, 

“[c]ompensating a tort victim for an increase in risk which results from some harm 

caused by a tortfeasor fits comfortably within traditional damage calculation 

methods. Plaintiff's life expectancy has been shortened because he has a higher risk 

of death from testicular cancer. Accordingly, he should be compensated.”
108

 

Finally, Chief Justice Veasey wisely noted that failing to adopt the increased risk 

of harm standard would fail “adequately to deter negligent condut” by the 

professionals.
109

 

 Plaintiff respectfully submits that the Court should hold attorneys to the 

same standard under which physicians have been held since the Court’s decision in 

Anderson. Plaintiff has demonstrated through the testimony of his expert, Attorney 

Jones, that Defendant’s failure to include the statutory waiver language in the 

Agreement left it susceptible to challenge by Ms. Willoughby – an increased risk 

                                                           
107

 Anderson, 669 A.2d at 77. 

 
108 Id. at 78. 
 
109

 Id. at 77. 
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of a future threat.
110

 As was demonstrated in Plaintiff and Ms. Willoughby’s 

divorce litigation, that threat came to pass when Ms. Willoughby moved, initially 

successfully, to set aside the Agreement on unconscionability grounds. Attorney 

Jones testified in her expert opinion that had the Agreement included a waiver, this 

could not have occurred. Finally, as both Attorney Jones and Attorney Gagne 

testified, Defendant’s failure to include the provision in the Agreement did, in fact, 

cause Plaintiff to incur financial harm in the form of dramatically increased costs. 

As Chief Justice Veasey held to be the case for the plaintiff in Anderson, Plaintiff 

should be compensated for this harm. 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
110

 See, A0166 – A0167. 
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CONCLUSION 

 For all the forgoing reasons, Plaintiff below, Appellant herein, Dean 

Sherman respectfully requests that the the Superior Court’s January 2, 2020 

Opinion and Order granting Defendant, Stephen P. Ellis, Esquire’s Motion for 

Summary Judgment should be reversed and the case remanded for trial.  

 

       Respectfully Submitted,  

    IPPOLITI LAW GROUP 

 

     

    /s/ Patrick K. Gibson   

    PATRICK K. GIBSON, ESQ.  

   DE. Supreme Court ID 6357 

       1225 N. King Street, Suite 900 

    Wilmington, DE 19801 

       Ph: (302) 428-1400 

       Fax: (302) 428-9664 

       Email: patrick@ippolitilawgroup.com 
        

Dated: March 17, 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



36 
 

RATIONALE AND JUDGMENT OF THE TRIAL COURT 
 



IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE 

 

DEAN SHERMAN,     : 

        : 

    : 

   Plaintiff,    : 

                      : C.A. No. K18C-06-009 JJC 

        : In and for Kent County 

 v.       : 

        : 

STEPHEN P. ELLIS, ESQUIRE,          : 

        : 

  : 

          Defendant.    : 

 

 

OPINION  

 

Submitted: November 22, 2019 

Decided:  January 2, 2020  

 

 

 

 

 

Patrick K. Gibson, Esquire, Ippoliti Law Group, Wilmington, Delaware, Attorney 

for Plaintiff. 

 

Colleen D. Shields, Esquire, Gary W. Lipkin, Esquire, & Alexandra D. Rogin, 

Esquire, Eckert Seamans Cherin & Mellott, LLC, Wilmington, Delaware, Attorneys 

for Defendant. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Clark, J. 

 
 

EFiled:  Jan 02 2020 08:47AM EST  
Transaction ID 64568498 

Case No. K18C-06-009 JJC 



2 
 

Plaintiff Dean Sherman sues his former attorney, Stephen Ellis, Esquire, for 

legal malpractice.  Prior to Mr. Sherman’s 1997 marriage, Mr. Ellis drafted a 

premarital agreement (the “Agreement”) designed to protect Mr. Sherman’s assets.  

Mr. Sherman then presented the Agreement to his fiancé.1    The Agreement waived 

her right, upon divorce, to receive alimony or to share in wealth accumulated over 

the course of their marriage.  Her attorney advised her not to sign it but she 

nevertheless did. 

During their divorce proceedings in 2015, Mr. Sherman’s wife challenged the 

Agreement’s enforceability in Family Court.  The Family Court found it to be 

unconscionable and thus unenforceable.  The Delaware Supreme Court, however, 

reversed the Family Court’s decision.  In the end, the Agreement successfully barred 

her challenges.  

Notwithstanding Mr. Sherman’s success after appeal, he now sues Mr. Ellis 

because he did not include a waiver of disclosure clause in the draft agreement.  

According to Mr. Sherman’s expert, it would have been a “silver bullet” removing 

the incentive for his ex-wife to engage in protracted litigation.  Mr. Sherman claims 

that this expanded litigation in turn expanded his costs and fees.  He now seeks to 

recover those attorney and expert fees from Mr. Ellis.  

Presently, Mr. Ellis seeks summary judgment in a motion that raises two 

principal issues.  First, the motion requires the Court to evaluate the legal foundation 

for Mr. Sherman’s expert’s standard of care opinion.  Second, with regard to 

proximate cause, the motion addresses a plaintiff’s ability to recover for legal 

malpractice in drafting a premarital agreement that, in the end, successfully 

                                                
1 Mr. Sherman’s former spouse is not a party.  The Court will refer to her as Mr. Sherman’s fiancé, 

wife, or ex-wife as did the Delaware Supreme Court when it assigned her a pseudonym in the 

underlying action.  See Silverman v. Silverman, 206 A.3d 825 (Del. 2019) (assigning pseudonyms 

and general titles to the parties). 
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protected the plaintiff’s assets.  To evaluate the second issue, the Court must address 

whether the standard for proximate cause in transactional legal malpractice claims 

differs from the standard applied in litigation legal malpractice claims.   

For the reasons that follow, genuine issues of material fact remain regarding 

the applicable standard of care and whether Mr. Ellis breached that standard. 

However, in this case, there is insufficient evidence of record to support an inference 

that Mr. Sherman’s ex-wife would have agreed to include this “silver bullet” term in 

the Agreement.  In addressing an issue of first impression, the same “but for” 

proximate cause limitation that applies in litigation malpractice actions must apply 

in transactional legal malpractice actions.  When applying that standard, because 

record evidence does not support an inference that Mr. Sherman’s ex-wife would 

have likely accepted the term, the trier of fact would be forced to speculate regarding 

whether Mr. Ellis’s alleged negligence proximately caused Mr. Sherman harm.  For 

that reason, Mr. Ellis’s motion for summary judgment must be GRANTED.  

 

FACTS AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

The recited facts are those of record when viewed in the light most favorable 

to Mr. Sherman, the non-movant.  In 1997, Mr. Sherman retained Mr. Ellis to 

negotiate and draft the Agreement prior to his marriage.  The draft included 

provisions designed to protect Mr. Sherman’s assets in the event of a divorce.  It also 

included a mutual waiver of alimony.  Finally, it included a clause recognizing that 

both parties had fully disclosed their premarital assets.2  The proposed agreement, 

                                                
2 Pl. Response, Ex. A., Ex. 1, “Ante-Nuptial Agreement” at 3 (providing “[t]he parties hereby 

acknowledge that each of them has made a full disclosure to the other of all property owned or 

otherwise held by each respective party on Exhibits ‘A’ and ‘B’ attached hereto”). 
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however, did not contain a waiver of the parties’ obligations to disclose assets and 

obligations “beyond the disclosure provided.”3   

Before his fiancé signed the Agreement, she consulted with an attorney.  Her 

attorney first asked Mr. Sherman to revise the proposed agreement to secure her 

future financial security.  Mr. Sherman rejected those requests with the exception of 

one minor issue.  His fiancé then met with her attorney to review the Agreement.  

He told her that it was one-sided and that she should not sign it.  Notwithstanding 

this advice, she executed it.  When doing so, she acknowledged in writing that her 

attorney had advised her not to.  The two then married. 

In 2015, Mr. Sherman’s wife filed for divorce and moved to set aside the 

Agreement.  At that point, Mr. Sherman’s assets exceeded twelve million dollars and 

his annual income exceeded one million dollars.  In contrast, she had no independent 

income or separate assets.  In her motion to set aside the Agreement, she argued that 

it was unenforceable because she did not execute it voluntarily.4  She also argued 

that the Agreement was unconscionable because (1) she was not provided a fair and 

reasonable disclosure of Mr. Sherman’s property, and (2) because she “did not 

voluntarily and expressly waive in writing any right to that disclosure.”5   

Prior to the parties’ execution of the Agreement in 1997, Mr. Sherman had 

disclosed in writing his then four million dollars in assets.6  The disclosure, however, 

contained errors.  Namely, it omitted that he owned a Ford Explorer (though his 

fiancé had nearly exclusive use of it prior to the disclosure) as well as a three 

thousand dollar life insurance policy.  It also inaccurately described his one hundred 

                                                
3 See 13 Del. C. § 326(a)(2)b (permitting a waiver of disclosures beyond those provided).  
4 See id. at § 326(a)(1) (providing a premarital agreement is unenforceable if not executed 

voluntarily). 
5 Pl. Response, Ex. A, Ex. 3, “Motion to Set Aside Ante-Nuptial Agreement,” at ¶ 5. 
6 Pl. Response, Ex. A, Ex. 1 at 7. 



5 
 

percent interest in a two hundred acre property as a fifty percent interest.7  In the 

Family Court property division litigation, after discovery, briefing, and oral 

argument, that court held the Agreement to be unconscionable.  Because of the 

disclosure errors, it also held that Mr. Sherman’s disclosure of assets and liabilities 

was not fair and reasonable.8     

Mr. Sherman then filed an interlocutory appeal to the Delaware Supreme 

Court.  With that appeal pending, Mr. Sherman filed the current legal malpractice 

suit against Mr. Ellis.  The then legal backdrop to the malpractice case included only 

the adverse Family Court finding, which at that point was on appeal.     

After Mr. Sherman filed suit, the Delaware Supreme Court reversed the 

Family Court’s decision.9  When doing so, it confirmed that Mr. Sherman’s ex-wife 

had voluntarily executed the Agreement10 and that Mr. Sherman’s disclosure of his 

property and financial obligations was fair and reasonable.11  As a result, the 

Supreme Court held it to be immaterial whether or not the Agreement was 

unconscionable.12  It held the Agreement to be enforceable.13  

Nevertheless, Mr. Sherman continues to prosecute his legal malpractice claim 

against Mr. Ellis.  In doing so, he seeks to recover significant attorneys’ fees that he 

alleges he incurred while litigating the unconscionability of the Agreement in Family 

Court and on appeal.  His claim centers on Mr. Ellis’s allegedly negligent failure to 

                                                
7 Id. See also Silverman v. Silverman, 206 A.3d 825, 833 (Del. 2019) (summarizing the errors in 

the disclosures).  
8 Sherman v. Sherman, No. CS15-01396, 2018 (Del. Fam. Apr. 4, 2018). 
9 Silverman, 206 A.3d at 834.  
10 Id. at 829 (explaining that “[t]he parties have accepted the Family Court's ruling that Wife 

voluntarily entered into the premarital agreement. Thus, voluntariness is no longer at issue.”).  
11 Id. at 833–34. 
12 Id. at 834. 
13 Id. 
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include a single clause or sentence in the Agreement—a waiver of disclosures term 

authorized by Delaware’s Premarital Agreement Act (the “Act”).14     

The Act recognizes that a clause in a premarital agreement that waives further 

disclosure of assets or financial obligations has a direct bearing on the enforceability 

of a premarital agreement.15  While the parties dispute the effect of this portion of 

the Act, there is no dispute that the Agreement contained no waiver of disclosure 

provision.  

In the present suit, Mr. Sherman identified Judy Jones, Esquire, as his expert 

witness.  In her report and deposition testimony, Ms. Jones opines that including the 

waiver provision would by itself have precluded any claim that the Agreement was 

unconscionable.  As a result, she further opines that the standard of care for a 

domestic attorney as of 1997 required an attorney to include this waiver provision 

in the Agreement.  Mr. Ellis’s expert counters that the standard of care did not require 

Mr. Ellis to include such a provision.    

Apart from the standard of care issue, evidence of record relevant to proximate 

cause of harm is limited to three sources.  First, Mr. Sherman’s litigation attorney, 

David Gagne, Esquire, testified in his deposition that Mr. Sherman incurred 

additional fees and costs because Mr. Ellis did not include the provision in the 

Agreement.  Specifically, Mr. Gagne testified as a fact witness that because Mr. Ellis 

did not include this language, Mr. Sherman had to hire two experts to address 

property values that would have otherwise been unnecessary.16  Those expert fees 

were approximately $38,000.  Mr. Gagne also estimated that $285,000 of a total of 

$310,000 in attorneys’ fees that he charged were necessary only because Mr. Ellis 

                                                
14 See 13 Del. C. §§ 321–28. 
15 See 13 Del. C. § 326.  
16 Mr. Ellis also filed a motion in limine to exclude Mr. Gagne’s testimony to the extent that it 

includes expert opinions.  The Court need not decide that motion for purposes of this decision.  
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did not include the disputed provision in the Agreement.  Second, Ms. Jones offers 

her expert opinion that Mr. Ellis’s failure to include this term proximately caused 

the increased costs and fees identified by Mr. Gagne.  Third, Mr. Sherman argues 

that his ex-wife’s agreement to what were otherwise draconian terms in a one-sided 

Agreement circumstantially supports a reasonable inference that she would have 

agreed to anything he asked, including the waiver of disclosure provision.  

Notwithstanding that his ex-wife agreed to other one-sided terms, there is no 

evidence of record addressing her impressions regarding a waiver of disclosure 

provision or her willingness to agree to one.  Namely, there is no direct evidence 

from her or the then-attorney that bears upon what other terms she may have agreed 

to.  While she agreed to the vast majority, but not all of the terms proposed in the 

draft agreement, Mr. Sherman did not depose her or her then-attorney regarding how 

she would have reacted to the provision at issue.  Likewise, there is no 

correspondence, documentary evidence, or circumstantial evidence demonstrating 

her propensity to agree to that specific provision.    

Mr. Ellis now moves for summary judgment.  He has also filed a motion in 

limine to exclude Ms. Jones’s expert opinions regarding standard of care and 

proximate cause of damages.  Because Ms. Jones offers opinions regarding each 

element of Mr. Sherman’s malpractice claim, the foundation for her opinions must 

be addressed when deciding Mr. Ellis’s motion for summary judgment.  

 

ARGUMENTS OF THE PARTIES 

Mr. Ellis raises three arguments in support of his motion.  First, he argues that   

there is no genuine issue of material fact regarding the standard of care.  In support 

of this argument, he relies upon his expert’s opinion that the standard of care did not 

require the waiver language to be included in the Agreement.  Furthermore, he asks 

the Court to disregard Ms. Jones’s expert opinion because she allegedly 
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misinterprets a provision in the Act that anchors her standard of care opinion.  

Because she misinterprets the statute, he argues that her opinion has no foundation 

and should be rejected for purposes of summary judgment.   

Second, he argues that because the Agreement survived a legal challenge and 

protected Mr. Sherman’s assets, Mr. Sherman’s claim fails as a matter of law.  He 

concedes the absence of mandatory authority or in-State persuasive authority 

regarding transactional malpractice claims.  Rather, Mr. Ellis cites other states’ 

authority holding that a legal malpractice plaintiff must demonstrate that, but for the 

defendant’s conduct, he or she would have obtained a more favorable result than the 

one obtained.  According to Mr. Ellis, applying the same “case within a case” 

approach used by many courts in litigation malpractice actions, mandates summary 

judgment in this case.  

Third, Mr. Ellis argues that Mr. Sherman’s claim is “fatally speculative.”17  

He lists six assumptions that a jury would need to speculate about before it could 

find proximate cause of harm.  Namely, he argues that Mr. Sherman’s claim requires 

speculation regarding the following: (1) Mr. Sherman’s former wife would have 

accepted the waiver of disclosure language if Mr. Ellis had proposed it; (2) Mr. Ellis 

never, in fact, proposed the language; (3)  if he included the language in the 

Agreement, she would not have challenged the Agreement anyway; (4) the litigation 

expenses would have been less had he included the waiver of disclosure language; 

(5) the Family Court would have ruled differently if the waiver language was 

included; and (6) Mr. Sherman’s ex-wife, as opposed to Mr. Sherman, would not 

have appealed if she had lost in Family Court.18  On balance, he argues that because 

there is no evidence regarding Mr. Sherman’s ex-wife’s willingness to have agreed 

                                                
17 Def. Ellis Opening Br. at 10. 
18 Id. at 5.  
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to this pivotal term or her resolve to continue litigating under various scenarios, 

proximate cause of harm to Mr. Sherman is speculative.  

In response, Mr. Sherman argues that the evidence of record creates issues of 

material fact precluding summary judgment.  Namely, he argues that the conflicting 

deposition testimonies of his and Mr. Ellis’s expert witnesses create a jury question 

as to the appropriate standard of care.  Mr. Sherman also argues that Ms. Jones’s 

interpretation of the Act is correct as a matter of law.  Finally, Mr. Sherman urges 

the Court to apply a relaxed approach when evaluating proximate cause of damages.  

He argues that the relationship of damages to the negligence alleged is not 

speculative when applying this relaxed standard.   

 

SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD 

Summary judgment is appropriate only if there is no genuine issue of material 

fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.19  The Court must 

view the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.20  The burden 

of proof is initially on the moving party.21  However, if the movant meets his or her 

initial burden, then the burden shifts to the non-moving party to demonstrate the 

existence of material issues of fact.22  The non-movant's evidence of material facts 

in dispute must be sufficient to withstand a motion for judgment as a matter of law 

and sufficient to support the verdict of a reasonable jury.23   

 

                                                
19 Super. Ct. Civ. R. 56(c); Moore v. Sizemore, 405 A.2d 679, 680 (Del. 1979). 
20 Brozaka v. Olson, 668 A.2d 1355, 1364 (Del. 1995). 
21 Super. Ct. Civ. R. 56(e); Moore, 405 A.2d at 680 (Del. 1979). 
22 Moore, 405 A.2d at 681 (citing Hurtt v. Goleburn, 330 A.2d 134 (Del. 1974)). 
23 Lum v. Anderson, 2004 WL 772074, at *2 (Del. Super. Mar. 10, 2004). 
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ANALYSIS 

The Court must first determine whether there is a genuine issue of material 

fact regarding the standard of care applicable to Mr. Ellis.  Because (1) expert 

testimony regarding this issue is necessary, and (2) Mr. Sherman’s expert relies upon 

her interpretation of the Act to support her opinion, the Court must determine if the 

Act supports her position.  Next, the Court must address whether Mr. Sherman states 

a claim when the Agreement ultimately protected his assets.  In other words, is there 

any legally recognizable harm when the Agreement fulfilled its primary purpose, 

although through a more circuitous route?  Finally, the Court must address whether 

the evidence of record, when examined in the light most favorable to Mr. Sherman, 

demonstrates a genuine issue of material fact regarding proximate cause. 

  

The record demonstrates a genuine issue of material fact regarding the 

applicable standard of care and whether Mr. Ellis breached it. 
 

Central to the Court’s decision regarding the standard of care is Mr. Ellis’s 

motion in limine to exclude Ms. Jones’s opinion regarding the applicable standard 

of care.24  Expert testimony is required for a plaintiff to establish the standard of care 

in a legal malpractice case.   As to the standard of care, the parties offer competing 

expert opinions.  Ms. Jones’s relevant opinion includes that Mr. Ellis “acted 

negligently and breached the applicable standard of care for a Delaware lawyer when 

                                                
24 Neither Mr. Ellis nor Mr. Sherman couched their submissions in terms of a Daubert challenge.     

Foundational requirements are an aspect of a Daubert review.  See Perry v. Berkley, 996 A.2d 

1262, 1267 (Del. 2010) (explaining the Delaware Supreme Court “has adopted the United States 

Supreme Court holding in Daubert [v. Merrell Dow Pharm., Inc., 509 U.S. 579, 593–95 (1993)], 

which requires that an expert's opinion be based upon a proper factual foundation and sound 

methodology to be admissible, as the correct interpretation of D.R.E. 702”).  Because the parties 

proceeded immediately to their contrary arguments regarding the proper interpretation of the Act 

and whether Ms. Jones’s interpretation provides an adequate foundation for her opinion, the Court 

will focus only on that aspect of the Daubert requirements.  
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he failed to include in the [Agreement] a written waiver of further disclosure of 

property or financial obligations as permitted by 13 Del. C. § 326(a)(2)[b].”25 

Mr. Ellis argues that because Ms. Jones incorrectly interprets the cited statute, 

her opinion deserves no weight and need not be accepted for summary judgment 

purposes.  Mr. Sherman counters that had Mr. Ellis included one sentence in the 

Agreement, it would have significantly minimized Mr. Sherman’s attorney fees and 

expert costs.  

The parties agree that the standard of care issue centers on their contrary 

interpretations of a provision in Delaware’s version26 of the Uniform Premarital 

Agreement Act (the “UPAA”).  The provision of the Act relevant to this dispute is 

Section 326.  In relevant part, it provides:  

(a) A premarital agreement is not enforceable if the party against whom 

enforcement is sought proves that:  

(1) Such party did not execute the agreement voluntarily; or  

(2) The agreement was unconscionable when it was executed 

      and, before execution of the agreement, that party;  

a. Was not provided a fair and reasonable disclosure of the 

property or financial obligations of the other party;  

b. Did not voluntarily and expressly waive, in writing,  

any right to disclosure of the property or financial 

obligations of the other party beyond the disclosure 

provided; and  

c. Did not have, or reasonably could not have had, an 

     adequate knowledge of the property or financial  

     obligations of the other party.27 

 

In paragraphs (1) and (2) of Subsection 326(a) of the Act, the General 

Assembly provided two independent bases to challenge the enforceability of a 

                                                
25 Pl. Response, Ex. C, at 7. 
26 See 13 Del. C. §§ 321–28 (where the General Assembly enacted Delaware’s version of the 

UPAA). 
27 13 Del C. § 326. 
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premarital agreement:  involuntariness in execution or unconscionability.  In the 

underlying litigation, Mr. Sherman’s ex-wife challenged the Agreement based upon 

both.   

With regard to unconscionability, Ms. Jones opines that had Mr. Ellis included 

a provision mirroring the language in subparagraph (a)(2)b, it would have acted as a 

“silver bullet” to any challenge to the Agreement based upon unconscionability.  Mr. 

Sherman provided a written disclosure of his property and obligations as required 

by subparagraph (a)(2)a, and the Supreme Court held it to be fair and reasonable.  

However, the Agreement included no waiver as contemplated in subparagraph 

(a)(2)b.  That, according to Mr. Sherman’s theory of the case, would have limited 

the arguments in Family Court, and later in the Delaware Supreme Court, to whether 

his former wife executed the Agreement voluntarily.  That limited scope, in turn, 

Mr. Sherman argues, would have prevented the need to litigate the highly factual 

issue of the fairness and reasonableness of the disclosure as referenced in 

subparagraph (a)(2)a.   

Mr. Ellis counters that there is no meaningful way to interpret subparagraphs 

(a)(2)a and (a)(2)b to provide any guidance of value to an agreement drafter.  He 

further argues that regardless of whether he included (a)(2)b’s waiver of disclosure 

language in the Agreement, the parties would have still needed to litigate the issue 

presented under (a)(2)a — that is, whether the initial disclosure was fair and 

reasonable.   

Mr. Ellis reasonably argues that the interrelationship of these two provisions 

is unclear.  They seem to contradict each other to a certain extent.  Namely, the 

statute requires that there be a “fair and reasonable disclosure” on one hand, while 

also permitting a written waiver of disclosure on the other hand.  The only qualifying 

language in the Act regarding the nature of the waiver is that it is effective “beyond 

the disclosure provided.”  The Act does not define that phrase.  It is unclear whether 
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a correction to the first disclosure would qualify as one being “beyond the disclosure 

provided.”  It is also unclear regarding whether a “disclosure beyond the disclosure 

provided” could obviate the need for a party to provide a fair and equitable disclosure 

in the first instance.  At oral argument, neither party provided the Court with 

authority addressing the interrelationship of the two provisions.   

In written supplements, both parties provided contrary persuasive authority 

supporting contrary readings of the UPAA.28  The Court’s overriding goal in 

statutory construction must be to implement the General Assembly’s intent.29  When 

doing so, it must first look to the plain language of the statute.30  Here, in the 

underlying litigation, the Delaware Supreme Court addressed the statute’s structure 

as follows: 

to render the premarital agreement unenforceable under the statute 

[based upon unconscionability], the spouse contesting enforcement 

must prove that the agreement is unconscionable and prove three other 

grounds – lack of fair and reasonable disclosure of the other spouse’s 

property or financial obligations, non-waiver, and lack of adequate 

knowledge of [the other spouse’s] property and financial obligations.31   

 In this matter’s underlying litigation, the Supreme Court did not expressly 

address the effect of failing to include a waiver of disclosure provision.  Nor was it 

necessary for the Court to define “non-waiver” in the passage quoted above.  

                                                
28 Mr. Ellis offers a Kansas Supreme Court decision interpreting the provision in the UPAA to 

refer to “a waiver of any future disclosures, and not to a waiver of any and all disclosures made in 

the past.”  Davis v. Miller, 7 P.3d 1223, 1229–30 (Kan. 2000) (emphasis added).  Mr. Ellis also 

cites a Georgia appeals court decision holding that the UPAA does not provide that the waiver of 

disclosure provisions is a “silver bullet.”  Kwon v. Kwon, 775 S.E.2d 611, 615–16 (Ga. App. Ct. 

2015).  In response, Mr. Sherman cites an Illinois appellate court decision, In re Marriage of 

Solano, 124 N.E. 3d 1097 (Ill. App. Ct. 2019).  In that decision, the Illinois court held that the 

waiver of disclosure provision in the UPAA is effective as to all disclosures, past and present. Id. 

at 1111. 
29 Zambrana v. State, 118 A.3d 773, 775–76 (Del. 2015). 
30 Friends of H. Fletcher Brown Mansion v. City of Wilmington, 34 A.3d 1055, 1059 (Del. 2011) 

(quoting Caminetti v. United States, 242 U.S. 470, 485, (1917)). 
31 Silverman 206 A.2d at 832–33 (emphasis added). 
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Nevertheless, its statutory interpretation of Subsection 326(a) controls.  When 

applying this interpretation, it follows that whatever further disclosures “beyond the 

disclosure provided” are, if the premarital agreement includes language waiving 

such a disclosure, then it is impossible for the challenging party to invalidate a 

premarital agreement based upon unconscionability.   

Mr. Ellis relies upon the rule of statutory construction that statutes should not 

be read to render their provisions meaningless.32  In this regard, he argues that the 

two subparagraphs when read in pari materia, cannot be reconciled.  Regardless of 

the difficulty in interpreting and applying the two provisions, the Act’s plain 

language must control.  Here, the policy and rationale behind including such a “silver 

bullet” is for the General Assembly to decide, not the Court.  By including 

subparagraph (a)(2)b in the Act, the General Assembly has permitted any party who 

includes a waiver of disclosure provision in a premarital agreement to in all cases 

defeat a challenge to the Agreement based upon alleged unconscionability.  As the 

Delaware Supreme Court recognized in the underlying case, “[i]t may be time to 

take another look at Delaware’s premarital agreement law . . .”33  When observing 

this, the Supreme Court based this recommendation, in part, upon the circumstances 

of this case (in the underlying litigation) and, in part, upon other states’ decisions to 

adjust the UPAA based upon their experiences.34 

On balance, given the Delaware Supreme Court’s guidance in Silverman, the 

plain language of the statute, and persuasive authority interpreting the UPAA 

consistently with Ms. Jones’s interpretation, there is an adequate foundation for Ms. 

Jones’s interpretation.  As a result, in total, the record includes competing opinions 

                                                
32 See 1A Sutherland Statutory Construction § 21:1 (7th ed.) (explaining that [c]ourts should 

construe a statute, if possible, so no term is rendered superfluous or meaningless”). 
33 Silverman, 206 A.3d at 834, n. 46. 
34 Id.  
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regarding the necessary standard of care that applied in 1997 to an attorney drafting 

a premarital agreement designed to protect a client’s assets.35  The opposing experts 

evaluated Mr. Ellis’s performance in light of the applicable standards of care that 

they described.36  These competing opinions create issues of fact regarding the 

applicable standard and whether Mr. Ellis breached it.37  As a result, summary 

judgment is inappropriate on those bases. 

 

Proximate cause in a transactional legal malpractice claim must be 

evaluated under the same traditional principals of tort law that apply to 

litigation malpractice claims. 

In Delaware, the elements of a legal malpractice claim include “(1) the 

employment of the attorney; (2) the attorney’s neglect of a reasonable duty; and (3) 

the fact that such negligence resulted in and was the proximate cause of loss to the 

                                                
35 Delaware adopted the Act the year prior, in 1996.  70 Del. Laws ch. 462, § 2 (1996). 

   Compare also Pl. Response, Ex. D “Deposition of Judy M. Jones,” at 47 providing:  

Q: Any time an attorney, in your opinion represents a spouse seeking to protect his 

or her assets in drafting a prenuptial agreement, is it your belief that any time 

that they did not suggest including that waiver language, they are committing 

malpractice to their client? 

A: Probably yes. 

with Pl. Response, Ex. E “Deposition of Kathryn Laffey,” at 55 providing: 

Q: So you don’t believe the standard of care of the Delaware family lawyer 

preparing a prenuptial agreement requires this inclusion of this disclosure 

waiver language? 

A:  Certainly not in 1997. 
36 Compare Pl. Response, Ex. D “Deposition of Judy M. Jones,” at 102. 

Q: And again, is it your opinion within a reasonable degree of professional certainty 

based on your professional experience, that Mr. Ellis’ failure to include the 

waiver language . . . was a deviation from the applicable standard of care 

expected of a Delaware family lawyer? 

A: Yes, it was. It was a deviation. 

with Pl. Response, Ex. E “Deposition of Kathryn Laffey,” at 50. 

Q: Do you believe that Stephen Ellis deviated from the applicable standard of care 

in the drafting of this document? 

A: No. 
37 See Streevy v. Roberts, 2007 Del. Super. LEXIS 2634 (Del. Super. Mar. 21, 2007) (explaining 

that “competing expert testimony is a classic issue of fact for the jury”). 
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client.”38  Often, legal malpractice claims arise out of an attorney’s conduct during 

the course of litigation.  In those circumstances, the plaintiff must “demonstrate that 

the underlying action would have been successful but for the attorney’s 

negligence.”39   

In the litigation context, the general rule requires analyzing a “case within a 

case.”  Namely, a legal malpractice plaintiff cannot succeed in a claim unless he or 

she can demonstrate that but for the defendant’s negligence in a litigated case, the 

plaintiff would have won.40  While Delaware case law has not used the specific “case 

within a case” nomenclature, Delaware law aligns directly with that general 

approach in litigation malpractice cases.  Namely, in Flowers v. Ramunno,41 the 

Delaware Supreme Court articulated the causation standard for such a claim.   In that 

decision, the Court required the plaintiff to “demonstrate that the underlying action 

would have been successful but for the attorney’s negligence.”42   

Other legal malpractice actions, however, stem from attorney representations 

in transactions.  Legal malpractice actions in the transactional context often do not 

look back on the success or failure of litigation, but involve evaluating an attorney’s 

actions that, at the time, looked forward toward a future deal, settlement, or the 

prevention of litigation.  

Distilling a general rule for transactional malpractice cases has caused more 

uncertainty than in the binary, win versus lose, litigation setting.  Transactional legal 

malpractice cases may arise from an attorney’s drafting of a release, or as in this 

case, a premarital agreement.  In such transactional representation claims, some of 

those cases follow a loss to the client in litigation.  Such cases fit more easily within 

                                                
38 Weaver v. Lukoff, 511 A.2d 1044, 1986 WL 17121, at *1 (Del. July 1, 1986) (TABLE). 
39 Flowers v. Ramunno, 27 A.3d 551, 2011 WL 3592966 at *2 (Del. Aug. 16, 2011) (TABLE). 
40 Id. 
41 Id. 
42 Id. (emphasis added). 
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the general rule for causation used in litigation malpractice.  At some point, there 

was often a poor result in an underlying suit.    

Other transactional malpractice cases, however, stem from lost profits, a 

disappointing settlement or sale price, or a lost benefit of the bargain.  For instance, 

they may include claims that an attorney’s malpractice caused lost profits in a deal 

that the parties did not consummate, or did so under less favorable terms than were 

possible.  These claims may also, inter alia, involve lost net profit because an 

attorney either negligently prepared documents or negligently represented a party in 

negotiations.  In those transactional malpractice cases, the success of an “underlying 

action” cannot be gauged in binary terms such as winning or losing.     

To date, the Delaware Supreme Court has not addressed the standard for 

proximate cause in transactional malpractice claims.43  A number of other 

jurisdictions have examined the issue and align in two camps.44  Some jurisdictions 

continue to use a “case within a case” framework while modifying its application by 

applying a “but for” causation requirement in the transactional context.  On the other 

hand, some courts provide for a more relaxed causation approach in transactional 

legal malpractice cases due to the number of variables involved in a successful 

transaction.  Mr. Sherman advocates this relaxed approach and equates it to a loss of 

                                                
43 But see Dickerson v. Murray, 2016 WL 1613286 at *4 (Del. Super. Mar. 24, 2016) (relying upon 

a decision of the Court of Appeals of Ohio to explain application of the “walk away” scenario in 

legal malpractice claims in a manner that seems to relax the standard for proximate cause without 

articulating the standard).   
44 See George S. Mahaffey Jr., CAUSE-IN-FACT AND THE PLAINTIFF'S BURDEN OF PROOF 

WITH REGARD TO CAUSATION AND DAMAGES IN TRANSACTIONAL LEGAL 

MALPRACTICE MATTERS: THE NECESSITY OF DEMONSTRATING THE BETTER DEAL, 37 

Suffolk U. L. Rev. 393 (2004) [hereinafter Cause-in-Fact] (generally discussing legal malpractice 

and specifically addressing the dispute regarding the causation in transactional malpractice claims, 

including the “Case-within-a-Case” approach).  See also John M. Palmeri & Franz Hardy, 

TRANSACTIONAL LEGAL MALPRACTICE CLAIMS: Application of the “Case within a Case” 

Standard, 50 No. 3 DRI For Def. 48 (2008) (noting that, in the author’s opinion, the majority of 

courts that have addressed causation in a transactional malpractice claim have adopted the case 

within a case standard). 
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chance type action.  He argues that there is a cognizable malpractice claim if an 

attorney’s actions merely resulted in a loss of chance to avoid excess litigation.  

At least one secondary source has characterized the “case within a case” 

approach as representing the general rule in the transactional context.45  The most 

cited case supporting this approach is the Supreme Court of California’s decision in 

Viner v. Sweet.46  That court reasoned that:  

[there is] nothing distinctive about transactional practice that would 

justify a relaxation of, or departure from, the well-established 

requirement in negligence cases that the plaintiff establish causation by 

showing either (1) but for the negligence, the harm would not have 

occurred, or (2) the negligence was a concurrent independent cause of 

the harm.47   

There, the court rejected an intermediate appellate court’s reasons for relaxing the 

but for test for causation.  The lower court relaxed the standard because of the large 

number of variables necessary to evaluate transactional success when compared to 

success in litigation.  In rejecting a relaxed causation standard, the Supreme Court 

of California observed that “[c]ourts are properly cautious about making attorneys 

guarantors of their clients’ faulty business judgment.”48   

Other high courts have likewise required a showing of “but for” causation.  

For instance, the Supreme Court of Minnesota formally adopted this approach in the 

transactional setting in Jerry’s Enterprises, Inc. v. Larkin et al.49  There, the court 

held that in a transactional malpractice matter, “the [proximate cause of damages 

element] of a cause of action is modified to show that, but for defendant’s conduct, 

                                                
45 See Palmeri & Hardy, TRANSACTIONAL LEGAL MALPRACTICE CLAIMS: Application of the 

“Case within a Case” Standard (describing the “case within a case” standard as the majority 

approach). 
46 70 P.3d 1046 (Cal. 2003).   
47 Id. at 1051. 
48 Id. at 1053 (citing Bauman, Damages for Legal Malpractice: An Appraisal of the Crumbling 

Dike and Threatening Flood (1988) 61 TEMP. L. REV. 1127, 1154–55). 
49 711 N.W.2d 811 (Minn. 2006). 
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the plaintiff would have obtained a more favorable result in the underlying 

transaction than the result obtained.”50  When articulating this standard, the Supreme 

Court of Minnesota held that without a demonstrated failure in the underlying 

transaction, proximate cause cannot be established under this rule.51 This approach 

fits loosely within a “case within a case” analysis.  In order to prove causation under 

this standard, a plaintiff must demonstrate consequences that resulted from the 

alleged negligence in contrast to what should have resulted from the transaction.52  

Courts applying this but for standard in transactional malpractice cases require 

evidence of the potential missing links in the causal chain.  Specifically, in claims 

involving an alleged failure to “obtain or advise of a provision, concession or benefit, 

the [plaintiff-]client must prove that the other party would have agreed.”53  Evidence 

that the other party “might have” agreed to the term is insufficient to meet this 

showing.54  These courts reason that without such a showing, juries would have to 

speculate regarding a myriad of possibilities that could have occurred following the 

suggestion or failure to suggest an additional term to an agreement.   The California 

Supreme Court and the Supreme Court of Virginia have both required plaintiffs to 

meet this burden.55  In doing so, they recognize that absent evidence that the other 

                                                
50 Id at 819; See also Adams v. Manion, 2017 WL 2729603 at *2 (Minn. Ct. App. June 26, 2017) 

(quoting Jerry’s Enterprises, Inc., 711 N.W.2d at 819); Viner, 70 P.3d at 1054 (finding that a 

plaintiff must show “but for the alleged malpractice, it is more likely than not that the plaintiff 

would have obtained a more favorable result”). 
51 Id. 
52 3 Ronald E. Mallen & Jeffrey M. Smith, Legal Malpractice § 24.5 (2019 ed.). 
53 Id. (citing Hazel & Thomas, P.C. v. Yavari, 465 S.E.2d 812, 815 (Va. 1996)). 
54 Id. (citing Hazel, 465 S.E.2d at 815 (finding the plaintiff did not show the other party would 

have still agreed to the contract where the other party stated he did not know if he would have 

granted a request for the added provision in the agreement at issue, but “certainly would have 

found a way to make the deal happen”)). 
55 Viner, 70 P.3d at 1053; Hazel, 465 S.E.2d at 815. 
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party would have likely agreed to the term, a plaintiff-client has not shown that the 

negligence proximately caused a loss.56 

The Court recognizes that apart from these jurisdictions, others relax the 

nexus necessary to demonstrate proximate cause of harm.   For instance, Mr. 

Sherman relies upon the Wisconsin decision in Estate of Campbell v. Chaney.57  In 

that decision, the Court of Appeals of Wisconsin examined a claim involving a 

premarital agreement.58  The plaintiff alleged that because of how a drafting attorney 

structured an agreement, the plaintiff had to engage in unnecessary litigation.59  

Namely, in Chaney, the underlying case settled before a final decision, but after 

some litigation.60  In framing the standard regarding causation, the Wisconsin high 

court required a showing “that the attorneys’ negligence caused weakness in the 

prenuptial agreement and that the weakness caused litigation.”61  The court reasoned 

that it was “immaterial that the agreement might later be enforced after a finding that 

the widow already knew the financial information . . ..  [I]f [a failure] caused the 

[plaintiff] to settle a claim that a proper agreement would have made meritless, then 

the attorney may be held liable.”62   

The defendant-attorney in Chaney argued a strict “case within a case” 

approach to causation; namely, he argued that because the agreement was not 

                                                
56 See Viner v. Sweet, 117 Cal. App. 4th 1218 (Cal. Ct. App. 2004) (finding on remand, while 

recognizing that an “express concession” by the other party of what they would have agreed to is 

not necessary and that circumstantial evidence can be used to establish causation, that the plaintiff 

did not identify direct or circumstantial evidence of causation in support of the claim); see also 

Hazel, 465 S.E.2d at 815 (finding the plaintiff failed to provide sufficient evidence of his attorneys’ 

negligence when he could not point to any evidence that the other party would have agreed to the 

additional provisions). 
57 485 N.W.2d 421 (Wis. Ct. App. 1992). 
58 Id. at 423. 
59 Id.  
60 Id.  
61 Id. at 425. 
62 Id. 
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nullified by judicial decision because the parties had settled mid-litigation, there was 

no cognizable malpractice claim.63   In rejecting that argument, the Wisconsin high 

court adopted a relaxed standard for causation for transactional based claims.64  

When doing so, that court applied what seems to be an improper burden shift.65  

Namely, it denied summary judgment because the defendant-attorney could not 

show that the plaintiff settled despite a strong probability that the plaintiff would 

have prevailed.66  Such an approach does not comport with traditional tort concepts.  

Rather, it constitutes an improper burden shifting in a loss of chance setting.  In fact, 

it provides for what is nearly alternative liability.  Delaware case law has never 

accepted alternative liability as an exception to the requirement for traditional 

proximate causation.67  

The Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals has also held that proving a case within 

a case is unnecessary in transactional legal malpractice claims.68  Namely, in Nicolet 

Instrument Corp. v. Lindquist & Vennum, the Seventh Circuit examined a district 

court’s granting of summary judgment.  The district court granted summary 

judgment because the Plaintiff could not prove that the other party would have 

agreed to the term at issue.69  The Seventh Circuit reversed, holding that “but for” 

causation is not the appropriate benchmark in transactional legal malpractice 

                                                
63 Id. 
64 Id. (finding the question for summary judgment purposes was “whether the defendant's alleged 

negligence forced the estate to engage in litigation it otherwise would not have had to engage in”). 
65 Id. at 426.  
66 Id.  
67 State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Middleby Corp., 2011 WL 683883, at *3 (Del. Super. Feb. 8, 

2011) (explaining that “[i]n the nearly twenty-five years that have passed since Nutt [v. A.C. & S. 

Co., Inc., 517 A.2d 690 (Del. Super. 1986)], the legislature has not authorized collective liability 

under either the market-share or alternative liability theories, and the Court perceives no reasoned 

basis for it to impose such a change now”). 
68 Nicolet Instrument Corp. v. Lindquist & Vennum, 34 F.3d 453 (7th Cir. 1994) 
69 Id. at 455–56. 



22 
 

actions.70  To the contrary, it applied what it described as a “not very demanding 

standard.”71  In doing so, it recognized the difficulty of proof of causation in legal 

malpractice cases in even the litigation setting, and the significantly greater difficulty 

involved in the transactional setting where there often is no “right outcome.”72  

Because of that difficulty, the Seventh Circuit relaxed the standard and did not 

require the plaintiff to prove that the other party would have likely agreed to the 

additional term.73  

These cases and others like them differ from Delaware precedent that applies 

traditional concepts of proximate cause consistently among tort claims.   In legal 

malpractice claims, the Delaware Supreme Court’s only decision addressing 

causation, although in the litigation malpractice context, recognized that traditional 

proximate cause, with a “but for” floor for liability, applied.74  Alternative liability 

has not been applied in Delaware in any setting.75  Moreover, there is no support in 

Delaware law to relax the standard for only one sub-set (transactional legal 

malpractice claims) of one type of claim (legal malpractice claims in general), 

merely because the former, by nature of the challenged attorney action, has an 

increased number of variables that make it more difficult to prove.    

                                                
70 Id. at 455. 
71 Id.  
72 Id. 
73 Id. 
74 Flowers, 2011 WL 3592966 at *2. 
75 Nutt v. A.C. & S. Co., Inc., 517 A.2d 690, 694 (Del. Super. 1986) (referencing In re Asbestos 

Litig., 509 A.2d at 1118 when “declin[ing] to adopt the alternative liability theory in Delaware. 

[The Court is] satisfied that such a change in traditional tort law should be left to the legislature”); 

In re Asbestos Litig., 509 A.2d 1116, 1118 (Del. Super. 1986) (explaining that an assumption of 

product identification would be “mere speculation and would be the establishment of something 

akin to market-share liability . . . , a change in Delaware tort law which if desired this Court 

believes is best left to the legislature”), aff'd sub nom. Nicolet, Inc. v. Nutt, 525 A.2d 146 (Del. 

1987). 
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A recent Supreme Court of Mississippi decision that addressed a legal 

malpractice claim in the transactional context is persuasive.76  In Gulfport OB-GYN, 

P.A. v. Dukes, that court examined a claim involving an employment agreement’s 

covenant not to compete.77  An employee left the plaintiff-client’s medical practice 

to start her own practice and challenged its enforceability.78  After the departing 

physician prevailed, the plaintiff-client filed a legal malpractice claim against the 

law firm that drafted the employment agreement because of a missing provision.79   

In affirming the lower court’s decision to grant summary judgment, the 

Supreme Court of Mississippi described the required showing of proximate cause 

where an underlying transaction is at issue.80  It explained that a legal malpractice 

claim requires a plaintiff to establish proximate cause by the trial-within-a-trial test, 

and that while transactional claims may not involve a “trial” or “case,” the “same 

principles apply: causation ‘turns on whether the attorney’s conduct was the but-for 

cause of the failure to obtain a more favorable result rather than success or failure in 

litigation.’”81  Noting that a substantial majority of courts have followed this rule,82 

the Mississippi court persuasively held that where the 

complaint is that the attorney should have proposed different or 

additional terms to a transaction, the malpractice plaintiff must show 

                                                
76 Gulfport OB-GYN, P.A. v. Dukes, Dukes, Keating & Faneca, P.A., --- So.3d ----, 2019 WL 

4071721 (Miss. Aug. 29, 2019). 
77 Id. at *1. 
78 Id.  
79 Id. 
80 Id. at *2–4. 
81 Id. at *2 (quoting Frederick v. Wallerich, 907 N.W.2d 167, 173 (Minn. 2018)) (citing Mahaffey 

Jr., Cause-in-Fact, at 436–37). 
82 Id. (citing John M. Palmeri, Franz Hardy, Nicole Salamander Irby, Better Deal or No Deal: 

Causation in Transactional Malpractice Cases, 42 COLO. LAW. 51, 51 (Dec. 2013), which in turn 

cited Viner v. Sweet, 70 P.3d 1046 (2003); Serafin v. Seith, 672 N.E.2d 302 (1996); Blackhawk 

Building Systems, Ltd. v. Aspelmeier, Fisch, Power, Warner and Engberg, 428 N.W.2d 288 (Iowa 

1988); Jerry's Enters., Inc. v. Larkin, Hoffman, Daly & Lindgren, Ltd., 711 N.W.2d 811 (Minn. 

2006); Froom v. Perel, 872 A.2d 1067 (N.J. App. Div. 2005); Hazel and Thomas, P.C. v. Yavari, 

465 S.E.2d 812 (Va. 1996); Cannata v. Wiener, 789 A.2d 936 (Vt. 2001)). 
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that such terms would have been accepted by the other party or that the 

client would not have entered into the deal and would have been better 

off for doing so. Absent such proof there exists no genuine issue of 

material fact as to causation of damages, and summary judgment is 

appropriate.83 

Proving causation in a transactional malpractice claim, as in a litigation 

malpractice claim, requires proof that, but for the attorney’s negligence, the plaintiff 

would have obtained a more favorable result.  While ultimate success in litigation in 

a case like Mr. Sherman’s does not per se bar a malpractice claim, when the claim 

involves alleged negligence in not proposing or including an additional term in a 

proposed agreement, the plaintiff-client must first show that the other party would 

have agreed to the omitted term.  Without evidence of record supporting a reasonable 

inference that the opposing party would more likely than not have agreed to the term, 

there is no genuine issue of material fact regarding proximate cause of damages.   

 

Mr. Sherman does not demonstrate a genuine issue of material fact regarding 

proximate cause of damages.  

At the outset, Mr. Ellis meets his initial burden on summary judgment as to 

proximate cause.  He emphasizes that the Supreme Court held the Agreement to be 

enforceable.  As a result, Mr. Sherman prevailed in the underlying litigation.  

Accordingly, the burden shifts to Mr. Sherman to demonstrate an issue of fact 

regarding proximate cause of harm. 

In response to Mr. Ellis’s motion, Mr. Sherman emphasizes the conflicting 

deposition testimony of the expert witnesses.84  He also claims the amount of 

damages he suffered are not speculative because his litigation attorney, Mr. Gagne, 

quantified the alleged harm as extra fees and costs incurred during the Family Court 

                                                
83 Id. at *4. 
84 Pl. Response, at 3–8. 



25 
 

litigation and Supreme Court appeal.85  In his testimony, Mr. Gagne provides an 

estimate of the attorneys’ fees that Mr. Sherman would have incurred had the waiver 

of disclosure language been included in the Agreement.86  Specifically, Mr. Gagne 

believed there would have been no need to hire experts for the Family Court 

litigation,87 and that the trial in Family Court would have taken approximately one- 

half a day.88  He conceded, however, that he would have still taken some depositions 

and would have had to litigate the matter in Family Court.89  Based on this reasoning, 

Mr. Gagne estimated that the litigation would have cost Mr. Sherman approximately 

$35,000 to $50,000 in comparison to the $310,000 he charged him.90   

Mr. Gagne’s estimation of the difference in costs—or in other words, an 

identification of the amount of damages Mr. Sherman incurred—provides sufficient 

evidence for a reasonable jury to fix an amount of damages.  That, however, is not 

all that is required.  There must be sufficient evidence for it to reasonably infer that 

the alleged negligence proximately caused the harm.  

The evidence of record when considered in the light most favorable to Mr. 

Sherman does not permit that bridge.  Namely, Mr. Sherman does not meet his 

burden by demonstrating that there is a genuine issue of fact regarding whether the 

costs and fees would not have been incurred but for Mr. Ellis’s alleged negligence.91  

                                                
85 Id. at 9–10. 
86 Pl. Response, Ex. F, at 42–43. 
87 Id. at 42:7–42:13 (stating “[s]o with the waiver language in, I would not have retained the experts 

for the valuations . . . I believe the expert costs and fees associated with depos, and that was to 

38,000.00”). 
88 Id. at 42:18–42:19 (stating “[i]t would have been probably a half day trial”).  
89 Id. at 42:13–43:4 (stating “I would have had to go to a trial in Family Court, nonetheless, I would 

have had the waiver – I still would have taken Tom Gay’s deposition, which I did. I still would 

have done that even under the err [sic] set of circumstances . . . I still would have taken Ms. 

Sherman’s deposition . . . [Mr. Sherman] would have been . . . And I assume Ms. Dougherty would 

have taken Mr. Ellis’s deposition even had the waiver language be [sic] in there”). 
90 Id. at 43:4–43:18 (stating “[a]n estimate, probably 35 to 50 [thousand dollars]”). 
91 Flowers, 2011 WL 3592966 at *2. 
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Because the underlying action is a transaction and involves the claim that Mr. Ellis 

failed to include a particular provision in the Agreement, Mr. Sherman would have 

to demonstrate evidence justifying a jury’s inference, that more likely than not, his 

ex-wife would have accepted the Agreement with the additional provision.   

In this regard, the Court recognizes that the evidence permits a clear inference 

that she might have.92  This “might have” evidence includes the ex-wife’s agreement 

to other unfavorable terms, and Ms. Jones’s expert opinion.93  Alone, the former 

does not constitute a circumstance supporting an inference of a probability that Mr. 

Sherman’s ex-wife would have agreed to a wholly separate term.  In addition, Ms. 

Jones conceded the same in her deposition testimony where she admitted that 

speculation would be necessary to make that assumption.94  In support of Ms. Jones’s 

opinion regarding proximate cause of harm, she cited the fact that Mr. Sherman’s 

ex-wife signed the Agreement against her attorney’s advice.  Nevertheless, Ms. 

Jones testified that she does not “think there is any way of knowing where [sic] 

whether she would have refused signing the prenup if that statement had been in 

there or not.”95  In fact, she confirmed the degree of speculation regarding the ex-

wife’s agreement to such a term to be “pure speculation.”96 

Here, the record contains no testimony from Mr. Sherman’s ex-wife, one of 

the two parties to the Agreement, bearing on this material issue.  Nor does it contain 

testimony from the attorney who advised her.  As recognized in the Viner decision, 

while an express concession of acceptance is not necessary to prove proximate cause 

                                                
92 See Mallen & Smith, Legal Malpractice (citing Hazel, 465 S.E.2d at 815 when explaining that 

it is “not sufficient to show that the other party ‘might have’ agreed” to prove proximate cause of 

harm in a transactional malpractice claim). 
93 Pl. Response, Ex. D “Deposition of Judy M. Jones,” at 39:15–46:5. 
94 Id. at 40:1–40:4. 
95 Id. at 41:12–41:15. 
96 Id. at 41:15. 
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of harm, there must at a minimum be circumstantial evidence of a probability of 

acceptance of the term.97   

The Court recognizes that proving proximate cause of harm will often be 

challenging in circumstances, such as the one at hand, where the decision maker was 

and remains an adverse party to the malpractice-plaintiff.  As the California Supreme 

Court correctly recognized in Viner, however, “difficulties of proof cannot justify 

imposing liability for injuries that the attorney could not have prevented by 

performing according to the required standard of care.”98  On balance, the record 

contains no evidence—direct or circumstantial—that permits a reasonable inference 

that Mr. Sherman’s ex-wife would have more likely than not agreed to this critical 

term.  Because (1) the but for standard for proximate cause represents the evidentiary 

floor for establishing proximate cause, and (2) a critical link in the causal chain is 

missing in this record, summary judgment must be granted in favor of Mr. Ellis.   

 

Conclusion 

When considering the facts of record in the light most favorable to Mr. 

Sherman, there is no genuine issue of material fact regarding whether Mr. Ellis 

proximately caused Mr. Sherman’s alleged damages.  As a result, Mr. Ellis’s Motion 

for Summary Judgment must be GRANTED. 

 

                                                
97 Viner, 70 P.3d at 1053. 
98 Id. 


